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FEDERAL HALL NATIONAL IIIORIAL, Interior Rotunda, 15 Pine Street, Rorough of
"anhattan. Completed 1842; arc.itects Tow: & Davis, Samuel Thomson, and
John Frazee.

Landmark Site: Borough of llanhattan Tax Map Block 43, Lot 6.

On February 25, 1975, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a nublic
hearing on the proposed designation as an Interior Landmark of the Federal Hall
National i‘emorial, Interior Notunda, and the proposed designation of the related
Landmark Site (Item lo. 3). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance
with the provisions of law. Three witnesses spoke in favor of designation,
including a representative of the Mational Parks Service. There were no speakers
in opposition to designation.

DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Rich in historical associations, the Federal Hall lMational lemorial occunies
the site of Mew York's second City Hall, bequn in 16922 and demolished in 1812.
That building, which later becane the State House in 1785, was remodeled in 1788-89
bv lajor L'Enfant as "Federal Hall," finally serving as the State Capitol from
1790-97, prior to demolition. It was here, on the balcony of Federal Hall, that
George Tlashington took the ocath of office as first President of the United States
on April 30, 1789. The stone slab on which he stood during the inauguraticn
ceremony is preserved in the center of the rotunda of the present building on the
site, the Federal Ekall ilational !emorial.

Federal Hall MNational Ifemorial was bequn in 1834 and completed in 1842 as the
New York Custom House, during a pericd of rapidly ewpanding econcric activity
vhich established Mew York City as the leading cormercial center in the nation.
From 1862 to 1920 the building served as the Mew York Office of the United States
Sub-Treasury, whose function vas similar to that of the Federal Reserve system
today. Of the six sub-treasuries established during tie adrinistraticn of :
President liartin Van Buren, New York's was the most important, handling 70 per
cent of governrment monies. After 1920, a nurber of agencies occupied the building
until 1939, when it became a llational Historic Site. In 1955 it was designated
the Federal Hall National Ifemorial and is a ruseun devoted to the history of
New York City, administered by the Mational Park Service, United States
of the Interior. The building was desig¢nated a Mew York City Landmark in 1965.

The building admirably expresses, in architectural form, the ideals of Greek
democracy and of the Roman Renublic which inspired the Founding Fathers of this
country. The rotunda, modeled on the Pantheon in Fome, is one of the most
impressive interiors in the Citv. Scaring Corinthian colurms with beautifully
carved foliate capitals support a deep entablature which forms a solid base for the
low dome. The polished marble floor, the panels of the dome and the handsome
ironwork combine to produce an interior which is exceptionally elegant and refined.

The history of the design and construction of the Custom House--cne of the
most ambitious Federal projects of the time--is extremely complex since it was
carried out by several successive architects under instructions from the Secretary
of the Treasury. the Collector of Customs of the Port of ilew York and subject to the
supervision of commissioners specifically charged with carrying out the project.

Tarly in August 1823, Town & Davis, the best known New York architectural firm
of the time, was awarded the prize for the winning desicgn of the proposed new
Custom House. Ithiel Town was called to 'lashington, D.”., to discuss the plans for
the building with the Secretary of the Treasury. The Town & Davis design called
for a classic Creek temple, in the image of the Parthenon, but crovmed by a low
central dome in the Roman tradition, visible from the street. The imposing Wall
Street facade, above a broad flight of stairs, was designed tith a monumental



colonnace of eight Doric colums carvying a classical entablature and padirment
with acroteria, with a scoond, wallaa hexestyle culumade b antis benind it.
The Pire Straet facade vas eimilar, thouch sirpler. The side of the building
faciig tassen Styaet was doming by a stately sevies of two-stocy kg, e'ﬂ‘._?a‘.?‘fﬂ
squate columne separating superimosed windows. “he intericr was to be cmciform
in plan, with square colomadsd entrsnce halls leading into the central domed

area.

2t the svggestion of Ithiel Toum, Samual Thomson vas anpointed Superintendent

of Constructicn of the Custom Fouss. Thomeon had just camleted the Pdainistra-
ticn 2uilding ot Sailere’ Srag Harlor in Staten Talard end vas a weil-known

rcili?;act—{?ni'::‘.-;er., The v:;‘_:mp;?‘.gs{';;f 3 soem began te find fanli with #he Tom &
Davis plan, which they feit would nct provace snfficient interior space £o ahsorb
the evar-increasing volume of Iusiness. In addition, they wews shepiical of the
abilizy of the kriiding as desigred to carry the weicht of the dome, so they
ordexad zitaxations 4o the original plan., Ia addition to Thagon, racenk
research irdicates that an English architect by the name of flilliem Ress--the
New Xovk correspondent for a prominent British architectural magezine—-is thought
to have been associated with tle revision of the plan.

Tha post irportant modifications to the ariginal Town & Davis plan included
the replacement of the extarnally visible doma by a low one hiddea bepeath the
roct, the added interior sprce gained by the elimization of the hexastyle colon-
nades cn the Wall and Pina Street ends and the subdivision of the intericor into
two principal sections. The central dome propesed by Town & Davis, with founds-
tions suitably ieinforced, vos to be shifted to the Hall Street end of the huild-
ing, vhile the Pinc Strect end wes to have a central hallway flanked by oilices.
Thus, the plan of the rotunda as it is today was largely the creation of Thomson
or, possikly, Ross.

Friction soon dsveloped between Thomson and the commissionsrs regarding his
responsibilities and salery and, €inally, in April 1835 Thomson resicned his
post, taking with him all the plans and drawings for the Custca House.

In July of that year, John Frazee, a noted sculptor and one of the founders
of the Naticnal Acadery of Lesign, wes appointed Architect and Soperintendant of
the Castom Eomse. By this tine, the foundatiors had been laid and nerkle, cut
according to the originsi plans, was arriving daily. Without having access to
the original plans, Frazee procseded to make further alterations to th2 design of
the buiiding. The major change by Frazee was the addition of a third floor, which
he accamplished without raising the heigbt of tiw building. Originally, this
space had keen intended mearely for storage, but Frazee corverted it to «ffice
use, a functicn it still perfoums adnirably today. Bosad on surviving evidence,
we w2y esmume that meat of the emuisite ornamental interior detail of this
building was designed by sovlptor-architect john Frazee, who as superintendent
was uliimately vesponsivle for the fine quality of masonry construction.

This ~lassical rotunda displsys the restrained elecance characteristic of the
Greek Peviral sivie. The most ctriking featwre of this great intericr space is
the circular cclonnade of Cerinthian columns and pilasters vhich supmort a hand-
some Geep entablature &d low dome. The four columar sections with recessed bays
beiind then altermnate with narrow wall areas flanked by pilasters. The east and
west bays have simply enframed windows at the ocutside walls, with rosettes set
between them. The princinal entrance to the building is set in the south hay,
vhile the entrance to the main hallway is in the north kay. These wide docrays
are handsamely enframad by decorative moldings and surmowtted by richly ornament-
ed cornices carried on console brackets.

The saucer dome, vwhich Thomson had originally intended o be coffered, has
narrcy’ panels which taper toward the structural ring supporting the skylight.
These ranels are enhinced by anthemion motifs, top and bottcm, with end nrofiles
follcwing continuous zig-zag patterns, proviiding a vibrant contrast to the classic
design. 2bove the ranels a series of raised rosettes adorns the ring heneath the
skylight, '

Attractive and consricuous features of the rctimda are the gilded iron bal-
cony railings in the bay secticns. The skirt keneath these halconies is again
embellished with the Greek anthemion motif, while the railing iz ingeniously
surported by a series of slender caryatids with flared skirts anl! delimata floral
iromwork., Tour tall openings at balcony level have decorative metal grilles and
are set hetveen the pileosters in the wall arzas. An added ncte of enrichwent is
provided by a mmber of smaller paneled and gilt doors, operning cnto the rotunda
area, which have ornamental enframemencs quite similar to those of the principal
entrances.
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